### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JASON SHENFELD,	)	
	)	
Petitioner,	)	
	)	
VS.	)	CASE NO. SC09-1395
	)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Respondent.	)	
	)	
	)	

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

CAREY HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor
421 3rd Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600

TATJANA OSTAPOFF Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 224634

Counsel for Petitioner

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit. Respondent, the state of Florida, was the Respondent and the prosecution, respectively. In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appeared in the trial court (i.e., the Defendant and the State).

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on appeal, followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Defendant entered an open plea of guilty (R1/25, 4/3-4) to a charge of robbery (R1/20). On September 30, 2002, the trial court adjudged the Defendant guilty of robbery (R1/39) and sentenced him to five years in prison, but suspended the sentence and ordered him to serve five years drug offender probation, with a condition that he pay \$1949.50 restitution (R1/32, 40, 48, 44-45, 4/44-46). The Defendant was advised that if he violated his probation he would receive the suspended five-year prison sentence (R4/45, 5/103).

Having made restitution and successfully complied with the terms of his probation, the Defendant moved to terminate the probation (R1/53-54, 4/52-53). His motion was denied, but the trial court modified his probation on December 20, 2004, at the State's suggestion by converting the drug offender probation to administrative probation (R1/73, 4/55).

On July 23, 2007, an affidavit was filed alleging that the Defendant had violated his probation by committing first degree murder, sexual battery, and kidnapping on July 21, 2007 (R1/94). An amended affidavit filed October 1, 2007, alleged that the offenses were committed July 19-20, 2007 (R1/138). No warrant was ever issued on the affidavits. The Defendant had earlier been arrested on the underlying criminal charges. He moved to dismiss the affidavit of probation

violation on the grounds that the trial court lost jurisdiction of the case when no warrant was filed prior to the expiration of his probationary term (R1/156-157). The trial court denied the motion (R/5/81-82). The Defendant was arraigned on the amended affidavit, over his continued jurisdictional objection (R5/84).

After an evidentiary hearing on the allegations of probation violation, on October 25, 2007, the trial court found that the Defendant had violated his probation as alleged (R7/483), revoked his probation (R2/254), and sentenced him to fifteen years in prison (R2/184, 239-248, 7/489-491), over the Defendant's objection that he could be sentenced to no more than the five-year suspended prison term which had previously been imposed (R7/491).

On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed Appellant's fifteenyear sentence because it exceeded the suspended prison term to which Appellant had been sentenced in the originally imposed true split sentence. The Court, however, rejected the Defendant's claim that Section 948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (2007), which became effective well after the Defendant was placed on probation but before his probationary term expired, could not be applied retroactively to his case. The Fourth District Court of Appeal certified that its decision expressly and directly conflicted with the decisions of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Frye</u> <u>v. State</u>, 885 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2004) and <u>Harris v. State</u>, 893 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2005).

The State's motion for rehearing was denied on June 25, 2009. The Defendant filed his notice invoking the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on July 20, 2009. On November 10, 2009, this Court issued its order accepting jurisdiction of this cause.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A trial court loses jurisdiction to consider a probation violation once the term of probation expires. Pursuant to the statute in effect at the time that the Defendant committed the original offense, the expiration of the probationary period may be tolled, but only where the State files an affidavit and a warrant within the term of probation. Application of the intervening amendment of the statute, which authorized tolling of the probationary period on other grounds, to the instant case violated the ex post facto clause of the United States Constitution. In the instant case, no warrant was ever filed. The trial court therefore lost jurisdiction to hear the allegations of probation violation when the Defendant's term of probation expired five years after it was imposed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE PROBATION VIOLATION WHERE NO WARRANT WAS ISSUED PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION OF APPELLANT'S TERM OF PROBATION.

The Defendant was placed on drug offender probation for a term of five years on September 24, 2002 (R1/32, 44-45). That probation was modified by converting it to administrative probation on December 15, 2004 (R1/73). The five-year term remained the same. Therefore, the Defendant's probation expired five years after it was imposed, on September 24, 2007. However, the Defendant's probation revocation hearing commenced on October 11, 2007, and concluded on October 17, 2007. Thus, the probation revocation hearing was conducted after the five-year term of the Defendant's probation had expired.

Normally, the trial court loses jurisdiction to hear an allegation of probation violation once the probationary term has expired. "Upon the termination of the period of probation the probationer shall be released from probation and is not liable to sentence for the offense over which probation was allowed." Section 948.04(2), Fla. Stat. (2001). Once the probationary period expires, "a court is divested of all jurisdiction over the person of the probationer unless in the meantime the processes of the court have been set in motion for revocation or

modification of the probation." <u>Stapler v. State</u>, 939 So.2d 1092, 1093 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006) (quoting <u>State v. Hall</u>, 641 So.2d 403, 404 (Fla.1994)).

Therefore, "A violation of probation must be set in motion prior to the termination of the period of probation." <u>Jones v. State</u>, 954 So.2d 675, 676 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2007). Where a violation of probation is not set in motion before the period of probation has ended, the trial court lacks jurisdiction to find the defendant in violation of his probation. <u>Francois v. State</u>, 695 So.2d 695, 697 (Fla.1997); <u>Vidaurre v. State</u>, 8 So.3d 1206 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009). "When a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, it has no power to decide the case and any judgment entered is absolutely null and void, can be set aside and stricken from the record on motion at any time, and may be collaterally attacked." <u>Waggy v. State</u>, 935 So.2d 571, 573 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2006) (quoting <u>Young v. State</u>, 439 So.2d 306, 308 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1983) *receded from on other grounds* <u>Fike v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 628 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1984)).

However, the legislature has provided that, under certain circumstances, the jurisdictional time for hearing a probation revocation may be tolled. Thus, Section 958.06(1), Fla. Stat. (2001), effective at the time that the original offense was committed and the Defendant was placed on probation, provided:

Upon the filing of an affidavit alleging a violation of probation or community control and following issuance of a warrant under s. 901.02, the probationary period is

tolled until the court enters a ruling on the violation. Notwithstanding the tolling of probation as provided in this subsection, the court shall retain jurisdiction over the offender for any violation of the conditions of probation which is alleged to have occurred during the tolling period.

Under this statute, both the filing of an affidavit of violation and the issuance of an arrest warrant are required to toll the probationary period, and the mere filing of the affidavit is insufficient. Sepulveda v. State, 909 So.2d 568, 570 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005). It is the issuance of the warrant prior to the expiration of the probationary period that vests the trial court with jurisdiction, not the filing of the affidavit. Jones v. State, 964 So.2d 167 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2007); see Crain v. State, 914 So.2d 1015, 1017 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005). Absent the execution of a warrant, the filing of the affidavit alone does not trigger the tolling statute, and the trial court has no jurisdiction to hear the violation of probation once the term of probation has expired. Ford v. State, 994 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2008); Clark v. State, 402 So. 2d 43, 44 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1981).

In the present case, the State filed an affidavit of violation of probation on July 23, 2007 (R1/94). But the State conceded that no warrant was ever issued

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Two prior allegations of probation violation had been considered, but the first was never filed (R1/75-76), and the second was withdrawn by the State (R1/92). They therefore had no effect on the term of the Defendant's probation. Stambaugh v. State, 891 So. 2d 1136, 1139 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005).

(R5/118-119). Instead, The defendant was "booked" for his violation of probation at the jail without any warrant (R5/119). Because no arrest warrant was filed, the probationary period was not tolled. <u>Jones</u>; <u>Sepulveda</u>, The defendant therefore moved to dismiss the affidavit of probation violation (R1/156-157).

In denying the Defendant's motion to dismiss (R5/81-82), the trial court relied on an amendment to Section 948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (2001), creating Section 948.06(1)(d), Laws of Florida ch. 2007-210 (effective June 20, 2007), which provides that the probation period is tolled upon the filing of "an affidavit . . . and following issuance of a warrant under s. 901.02, a warrantless arrest under this section, or a notice to appear. . . ." If this amended statute applies to the instant case, then the Defendant's warrantless arrest while in custody would operate to toll the probationary period and permit his prosecution for violating his probation even after the expiration of the five-year probationary term.

No such application of the amended statute, which became effective well after the date that the Defendant was placed on probation, to the instant case is permissible however, as to do so would violate the ex post facto clause of the United States Constitution. A law falls within the ex post fact prohibition if it is retrospective. That is, it must apply to events occurring before its enactment and must disadvantage the offender affected by it. Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. 423, 107

S.Ct. 2446, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987). A law is also retrospective if it changes the legal consequences of the acts to be completed before its effective date. 107 S.Ct. at 2451. In order to ex post facto, a law must, of course, be more onerous than the prior law. Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 101 S.Ct. 960, 67 L.Ed.2d 17 (1981).

This Court has employed the appropriate analysis of an ex post facto problem in its decision in <u>State v. Williams</u>, 397 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 1981). There, the legislature had enacted a statute authorizing the trial court to retain jurisdiction over one-third of a defendant's sentence. Section 947.16, Fla. Stat. (1978 Supp.). This Court found that Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 101 S.Ct. 960, prohibited application of that statute to sentences for offenses committed prior to its effective date. Weaver set forth a two-fold test for ex post facto violations: (1) does the law attach legal consequences to crimes committed before the law took effect, and (2) does the law affect prisoners who committed those crimes in a disadvantageous fashion? "If the answer to both questions is yes, then the law constitutes an expost facto law and is void as applied to those prisoners." 397 So. 2d at 665. This Court found that Section 947.16 did attach the legal consequences of the trial court's parole veto and no gain-time release to those who committed crimes before its effective date. This Court further agreed that these consequences had a negative effect in that prisoner's sentences were thereby enhanced.

Somewhat analogous to the situation raised by the instant case is that where the statute of limitations for an offense is altered after the offense has been committed. In State ex rel. Manucy v. Wadsorth, 293 So. 2d 345 (Fla. 1974), this Court held that because the statute of limitations is a substantive right, the period of the statute begins to run from the time of the alleged criminal conduct. 293 So. 2d at 347. In Manucy, a murder was committed before the United States Supreme Court's decision in Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 2726, 33 L.Ed.2d 346 (1972), which held that Florida's death penalty statute was unconstitutional. Prior to Furman, death penalty cases could be prosecuted at any time subsequent to the offense, while non-capital crimes had to be prosecuted within a two-year limitation period. The defendant in Manucy was arrested after Furman was decided, when the two-year limitation period was in effect. This Court held that it was the unlimited limitations period in effect at the time of the murder that applied, not the two-year period in effect at the time of the defendant's arrest and prosecution.

To hold otherwise might be to create a situation which is clearly unconstitutional. This could allow the Legislature to enlarge the statute of limitations until the criminal in question was tried and sentenced; clearly an application which is ex post facto.

293 So. 2d at 347.

While it has been held that the legislature can extend the limitations period without violating the constitutional prohibition against ex post facto laws, this is true only if (a) it does so before prosecution is barred by the old statute, *and* (b) it clearly indicates that the new statute is to apply to cases pending when it became effective. United States v. Richardson, 512 F.2d 105 (3d Cir. 1975); *see* State v. Calderon, 951 So. 2d 1031 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) (interpreting legislative provision that amended statute of limitations "shall apply to cases the prosecution of which has not been barred prior to this date" as evidencing legislative intent to authorize retrospective application of statute). Statutes of limitation are to be construed liberally in favor of the accused, Bridges v. United States, 346 U.S. 209, 73 S.Ct. 1055, 97 L.Ed.1557 (1953); Mead v. State, 101 So.2d 373 (Fla. 1958), for the same reason as ex post facto laws generally:

The purpose of the statute of limitations is to limit exposure to criminal prosecution to a certain fixed period of time following the occurrence of those acts the legislature has decided to punish by criminal sanctions.

<u>Toussie v. United States</u>, 397 U.S. 112, 114-115, 90 S.Ct. 858, 860 25 L.Ed.2d 156 (1970). And this Court has expressly held that where the legislature did not indicate that the new statutory provisions pertaining to limitations were to apply to cases pending when the statute became effective meant that those provisions could

have prospective application only. Reino v. State, 352 So. 2d 853, 861 (Fla. 1977) receded from on other grounds Perez v. State, 545 So. 2d 1357 (Fla. 1989). See also Andrews v. State, 392 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980).

In the instant case, the legislature likewise did not include, in its amendment to Section 948.06(1)(d), any specific indication that the statute was to be retrospectively applied. Because the statute, like a statute of limitations, operates to define the time when the state may prosecute a defendant, its effectiveness must apply from the date that the crime was committed, not the date when the defendant was arrested or some other point during the pendency of the prosecution. Doing otherwise violates the ex post facto prohibition, as it would result in permitting the legislature "to enlarge the statute of limitations until the criminal in question was tried and sentenced." Manucy, 397 So. 2d 347.

In <u>Frye v. State</u>, 885 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2004), the First District Court of Appeal applied the same analysis as this Court employed in <u>Williams</u>, 397 So. 2d 663, to a case virtually identical to the instant case. There, two amended affidavits of probation violation were filed after the expiration of the defendant's term of probation. The defendant moved to dismiss the amended affidavits on the grounds that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to consider them. In response, the

State invoked the then recently enacted tolling statute, contained in an amendment to Section 948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (2001),<sup>2</sup> which stated:

Upon the filing of an affidavit alleging a violation of probation or community control and following issuance of a warrant under s. 901.02, the probationary period is tolled until the court enters a ruling on the violation. . . .

As in the instant case, this amended statute became effective after the defendant committed the crime for which he was placed on probation and after he was placed on probation, but before the expiration of his probationary term.

The First District Court of Appeal rejected the State's argument that the amended statute could be applied to toll the probationary term if an affidavit and warrant were filed within the term. Instead, the Court held that retroactive application of the statute would violate the constitutional prohibition against ex post facto laws. 885 So. 2d at 420. Quoting Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 30, 101 S.Ct. 960, the Court observed

Critical to relief under the Ex Post Facto Clause is not an individual's right to less punishment, but the lack of fair notice and governmental restraint when the legislature increases punishment beyond what was prescribed when the crime was consummated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Section 948.06(1) had not previously contained any tolling provision and permitted action by law enforcement officials only "within the period of probation or community control."

885 So. 2d at 421. Because the amended statute "clearly disadvantaged" the defendant, it could not be retroactively applied against him without violating the prohibition against ex post facto laws. *Id.*; *see also* Harris v. State, 893 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2005).

In the instant case, an affidavit was filed alleging that the Defendant violated his probation, but no warrant was ever issued. The Defendant's revocation of probation hearing was held after the expiration of his probationary term. Well-established existing law under Section 948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (2001) at the time that the original crime was committed and the Defendant was placed on probation provided that the probationary term was tolled only if both an affidavit and a warrant were filed within the probationary period. Sepulveda v. State, 909 So. 2d 568, 571 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Stambaugh v. State, 891 So. 2d 1136, 1139 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005).

As in Frye v. State, 885 So. 2d 419, the legislature had amended Section 948.06(1) after the Defendant was placed on probation, which had the effect of enlarging the time during which probation revocation proceedings could be brought even after the expiration of the probationary term; absent the amendment, the trial court would have had no jurisdiction to hear the violation. Consequently, the analysis of this Court in Williams, 397 So. 2d 663, and that of the First District

Court of Appeal in <u>Frye</u>, 885So. 2d 419, and <u>Harris</u>, 893 So. 2d 669, correctly restrict the application of the amended statute to prosecutions for offenses committed after its effective date. The holding of the Fourth District Court of Appeal to the contrary in the instant case must accordingly be vacated and set aside and this cause remanded with appropriate instructions.

### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing argument and the authorities cited, the Defendant requests that this Court vacate and set aside the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and remand this cause with directions to require that the Defendant's motion to dismiss be granted.