IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1395

JASON SHENFELD,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

BILL MCCOLLUM

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0656879

DANIEL P. HYNDMAN

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0814113 1515 North Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Point I. The Fourth District properly concluded that the trial court had jurisdiction to revoke the Petitioner's probation. The Petitioner's probation was tolled upon his warrantless arrest for violation of probation and the filing of an affidavit of violation of probation. Ex post facto analysis is not required since the Petitioner's violation occurred after the 2007 amendment to section 948.06(1)(d). In any event, retroactive application of this section does not constitute an ex post facto violation since the section is procedural in nature and does not affect the sentence for violation of probation. Conflict between the instant decision and Frye/Harris should be resolved in favor of the instant case because Frye/Harris applied an incorrect ex post facto analysis.

Point II. The Fourth District incorrectly concluded that the trial court could not sentence the Petitioner to 15 years in prison for the violation of probation. Since multiple sentencing errors occurred when the Petitioner was originally placed on probation and subsequently placed on administrative probation, the trial court was authorized to correct those errors and impose a sentence that could have been imposed before the Petitioner was placed on probation.

ARGUMENT

Point I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE TRIAL COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO REVOKE THE PETITIONER'S PROBATION; ANY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS OF THE FIRST DISTRICT (FRYE/HARRIS) SHOULD BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF THE INSTANT DECISION (RESTATED)

The Fourth District correctly concluded that the trial court had jurisdiction to revoke the Petitioner's probation. Accordingly, that portion of the instant decision should be affirmed. The Petitioner's central argument is that the trial court did not have jurisdiction to revoke his probation because his warrantless arrest for violation of probation did not toll his probationary period, and that the 2007 amendment to section 948.06(1)(d) - - which provides for tolling of probation upon a warrantless arrest - - should not have been applied retroactively. Although the Fourth District correctly concluded that the 2007 amendment could be applied retroactively, it is the Respondent's position that the retroactive application of this amendment need not be considered in the instant case in order to affirm the order of the trial court.

As the Fourth District correctly observed, prior to the 2007 amendment, section 948.06(1) provided for tolling of a defendant's probationary period upon: 1. the filing of an affidavit of violation of probation; and 2. the issuance of an arrest warrant. Shenfeld, 14 So. 3d at 1023-1024. After the 2007 amendment,

probation could also be tolled upon a warrantless arrest, or the issuance of a notice to appear. Id. at 1024.

Upon filing of an affidavit alleging a violation of probation or community control and following issuance of a warrant under section 901.02, a warrantless arrest under this section, or a notice to appear under this section, the probationary period is tolled until the court enters a ruling on the violation . . .

Section 948.06(1)(d), Florida Statutes (2007). The Petitioner correctly recognizes that this amendment became effective on June 20, 2007. (Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 9) See, Ch. 2007-210, Laws of Florida, section 5. This date was over a month before an affidavit of violation was filed by the Petitioner's probation officer on July 24, 2007 (V 1, R 94-100, V 5, T 106-121) and the Petitioner's warrantless arrest on the prior day (V 5, T 106-121). Since these events occurred after the effective date of this section and prior to the expiration of the Petitioner's probation -- which would have occurred in September of 2007 - - the Petitioner's probation was clearly tolled under 948.06(1)(d), Florida Statutes (2007), and an ex post facto analysis of the retroactive application of this section is not necessary. Such analysis would only be necessary if the violation and subsequent warrantless arrest occurred prior to the effective date of this section.

In any event, if such analysis is required, it is the Respondent's position that the Fourth District correctly concluded

that the 2007 amendment could be applied retroactively without constituting an ex post facto violation. Citing this Court's decision in Gwong v. Singletary, 683 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1996), the Fourth District has correctly held that even if a statute has retrospective effect, it does not constitute an ex post facto violation if it does not alter the elements of the defendant's criminal conduct or increase the penalty for a defendant's crime. See, Morrow v. State, 914 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005). The Fourth District has also recognized "the well-established legal principle that retroactive application of new law is not an ex post facto violation if the statutory change is merely procedural and does not alter the definition of criminal conduct or increase the penalty by which a crime is punishable." Shenfeld, 14 So. 3d at 1024.

Under these principles, the application of the 2007 amendment to cases in which a probationer was placed on probation prior to the effective date of the amendment, clearly does not constitute an ex post facto violation. The plain language of section 948.06(1)(d), Florida Statutes (2007) demonstrates that this is a procedural statute addressing the tolling of time when there has been an allegation of violation of probation. Furthermore, the statute does not address penalties for a violation of probation nor does it have any effect on those penalties.

"A statutory change operates retrospectively when it applies

to convicted offenders whose crimes were committed prior to the statute's effective date." Griffin v. State, 980 So. 2d 1035, 1037 (Fla. 2008). The Petitioner posits that the legislature did not indicate that this amendment was to be applied retrospectively, and he observes that "this amended statute became effective after the defendant committed the crime for which he was placed on probation, but before the expiration of his probationary term." (Initial Brief, pages 13, 14). However, the Respondent respectfully submits that the "crime" in this case, as it pertains to this section, is not the date of the original offense, but rather, the date of the alleged violation. Again, the violation in the instant case occurred after the effective date of the statute; the date that the Petitioner was actually placed on probation is immaterial in this case.

The Petitioner relies substantially on the decisions of the First District in <u>Frye</u> and <u>Harris</u>, the decisions with which the Fourth District has certified conflict. It remains the Respondent's position that these decisions are distinguishable from the instant case; however, to the extent they are in conflict with the instant decision, the Respondent requests that this Court disapprove Frye/Harris.

Frye/Harris found that retroactive application of the 2001 amendment to section 948.06(1) constituted a ex post facto violation. However, this reasoning does not necessary suggest that

even under those decisions the retroactive application of the 2007 amendment would also constitute an ex post facto violation since the decisions address different amendments. The Respondent will not reargue this matter which was made in its brief on jurisdiction except to restate its position that the decisions are distinguishable and therefore not in conflict.

The Frye Court found that retroactive application of the 2001 amendment to section 948.06(1), which established a statutory tolling provision for violations of probation, constituted an expost facto violation because the amendment "disadvantaged" the defendant. Id. at 420-421. This was because the affidavit in question would have been deemed untimely under the prior version of that section. Id. at 421. Harris followed Frye. The Respondent respectfully submits that the expost facto analysis applied by the Frye/Harris Courts is simply wrong, and is inconsistent with the analysis applied by this Court. The question is not whether a defendant has been "disadvantaged" by the law in question. For the purposes of expost facto analysis, the question is "whether the law alters the definition of criminal conduct or increases the penalty by which a crime is punishable." Gwong, 683 So. 2d at 112. See also, Griffin, 980 So. 2d at 1036.

The Petitioner cites this Court's decision in <u>State v.</u> <u>Williams</u>, 397 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 1981), which does indeed ask, as a part of the ex post facto test, "does the law affect the prisoners

who committed those crimes in a disadvantageous fashion?" Id. at 665. However, the Petitioner's reliance on this decision is misplaced; in Williams, by "disadvantageous", this Court was referring to the fact that the statute in question had a disadvantageous effect because it enhanced the prisoners' sentences. Id. See also, Duncan v. Moore, 754 So. 2d 708, 711 (Fla. 2000)) (ex post facto clause triggered when a later-enacted law increases the punishment beyond what was prescribed when the crime was committed). As the Respondent has argued above, the 2007 amendment in question has absolutely no effect upon the sentence of a defendant who has violated probation.

Likewise, in <u>Weaver v. Graham</u>, 450 U.S. 24, 101 S. Ct. 960, 67 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1981), upon which the Petitioner also relies in part, the Court addressed ex post facto in terms of "disadvantage" to the defendant; however, the Court explained that: "We have also held that no ex post facto violation occurs if the change effected is merely procedural, and does 'not increase the punishment nor change the ingredients of the offense or the ultimate facts necessary to establish guilt.'". 450 U.S. at 29 FN12, <u>quoting</u>, <u>Hopt v. Utah</u>, 110 U.S. 574, 590, 4 S. Ct. 202, 210, 28 L. Ed. 262 (1884). Therefore, under <u>Weaver</u>, the retroactive application of the 2007 amendment to section 948.06(1)(d) would not constitute a violation of the expost facto clause.

Accordingly, to the extent that there is conflict between

 $\underline{\text{Frye/Harris}}$ and the instant decision, this Court should approve the instant decision and disapprove $\underline{\text{Frye/Harris}}$ since the ex post facto analysis applied by the $\underline{\text{Frye/Harris}}$ Courts was erroneous and inconsistent with the test applied by this Court and the United States Supreme Court.

Point II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT THE TRIAL COURT COULD NOT SENTENCE THE PETITIONER TO 15 YEARS PRISON UPON REVOCATION OF PROBATION

It is the Respondent's position that the Fourth District erroneously concluded that the trial court could not sentence the Petitioner to 15 years in prison upon revocation of his probation. The Fourth District reached this holding because it found that the Petitioner had originally received a "true split sentence" of 5 years according to Poore v. State, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988), and that pursuant to the Fourth District's decision in Snell, upon revocation of probation of such a sentence, a judge may not sentence a defendant to incarceration that exceeds the remaining balance of the suspended incarceration portion of the sentence. Shenfeld, 14 So. 3d at 1025. However, in the instant case, the trial court properly relied upon this Court's decision in Roberts v. State, 644 So. 2d 81 (Fla. 1994) in sentencing the Petitioner to 15 years prison and, accordingly, that sentence should have been affirmed on appeal.

Although this issue was not the basis for certified conflict, "once this Court has accepted jurisdiction in order to resolve conflict, [it] may consider other issues decided by the court below which are properly raised and argued before this Court." Caufield v. Cantele, 837 So. 2d 371, 377 FN5 (Fla. 2002). See also, Schreiber v. Rowe, 814 So. 2d 396, 398 (Fla. 2002)("Given our

jurisdiction on the certified conflict, we have jurisdiction over all of the issues presented in this case"). Consequently, this Court may review this portion of the instant decision.

In the instant case, the trial court entered a detailed, well-reasoned order explaining why she could impose a statutory maximum sentence of 15 years prison upon the Petitioner's violation of probation (V 2, R 239-248). As the trial court explained, since the Petitioner was convicted of robbery, rather than an enumerated drug offense, he was improperly placed on drug offender probation (V 2, R 241-243). See generally, Jones v. State, 813 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 2002). See also, Epperson v. State, 955 So. 2d 642, 643 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007)("A court may not impose drug offender probation other than for the violation of a drug related offense listed in the offender probation statute . . ."). Placing the Petitioner on administrative probation, the trial court reasoned, was illegal because he had served less than half of his probation at the time (V 2, T 243-245).

Furthermore, the trial court also found that the Petitioner was sentenced under an incorrect scoresheet which did reflect the fact that he was on probation for D.U.I. at the time of the offense and did not include victim injury points for the offense (V 2, R 240-241). See e.g., Aponte v. State, 810 So. 2d 1008, 1011 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)("There is no doubt that in the instant case, the trial court could have assessed victim injury points at the original

sentencing hearing had the state presented evidence to support victim injury points. Therefore, we see no reason why the plain reading of section 948.06(1) does not permit the same victim injury points to be assessed upon a violation of probation.")

Additionally, as the trial court found, there was no valid reason to impose a downward departure sentence in this case (V 2, R 246). Since there was no valid basis for a downward departure, the original trial court should not have imposed a true split sentence suspending the entire period of incarceration. C.f., State v. Powell, 703 So. 2d 444 (Fla. 1997). See also, State v. White, 842 So. 2d 257, 258 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003)("A sentence consisting of a completely suspended prison term followed by a probationary period falls below the sentencing guidelines . . . Therefore, as a matter of law, such a sentence is treated as a downward departure sentence . . . Valid reasons must exist for a downward departure").

Therefore, since both the original sentence and the subsequently imposed administrative probation were improper, the trial court was authorized to correct the earlier errors and impose the statutory maximum of 15 years in prison upon revocation of the Petitioner's probation. See e.g., State v. Marshall, 869 So. 2d 754 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). C.f., Lee v. State, 666 So. 2d 209 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

As stated above, the 15 year sentence imposed by the trial court in the instant case is supported by this Court's decision in

Roberts. In that case, the defendant was sentenced with an incorrect scoresheet; while he was serving the probation portion of his sentence, he was arrested for a new offense and, after a hearing, his probation was revoked. Id. at 82. At sentencing, over his objection, the defendant was sentenced with a corrected scoresheet and received a greater sentence for the violation than he would have received using the original (incorrect) scoresheet.

When Roberts originally sentenced, he received the benefit of a mistake in his guidelines scoresheet. Now that he has committed a new crime and violated his probation, we see no reason to perpetuate the error. Justice is not served by awarding a defendant something to which he is not entitled . . .

Id. The Petitioner, like Roberts, received the benefit of the original trial court's error when he was placed on drug offender probation and had his prison sentence suspended under an incorrect scoresheet. Since he violated probation, it was proper for the trial court to correct the earlier errors and sentence the Petitioner to the same sentence that he would have originally received before he was placed on probation. "If probation or community control is revoked, the court shall adjudge the probationer or offender guilty of the offense charged and proven or admitted . . . and impose any sentence which it might have originally imposed before placing the probationer on probation . . . "Section 948.06(2)(b), Florida Statutes (2007).

The Fourth District did not address this argument because the Court found it was "waived" when the State did not object to, or appeal, the prior sentences. Shenfeld, 14 So. 3d 1025. Respondent respectfully submits that the above argument should not be avoided based upon "waiver". This is not a State appeal of an unpreserved sentencing error. In this case, the legal basis for the trial court's imposition of a 15-year sentence was the fact that the Petitioner's original sentence was improper and that the earlier errors could - - and should - - be corrected upon the Petitioner's violation of probation. It is the Respondent's position that such a correction is allowed under Roberts and that the legal basis for the trial court's sentencing order should have been fully considered by the Fourth District. Accordingly, the Respondent requests reversal of the portion of the instant opinion reversing the Petitioner's 15 year sentence of prison for violation of probation.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court APPROVE that portion of the instant decision finding that the trial court had jurisdiction to revoke the Petitioner's probation and sentence him, and REVERSE that portion of the instant decision finding that the trial court could only sentence the Petitioner to 5 years in prison.